LUISS Economics and Business Financial Markets and Institutions

Financial Development: Regulating for Economic Growth

Prof. Ugo Zannini SUPERVISOR Francesco Fosco Carabellese
CANDIDATE

Academic Year 2023/2024

Table of Contents

Table of Contents
Introduction
1. The Benefits of Finance to Growth5
1. 1. Functional Theory
1. 1. 1. Amelioration of Risk
1. 1. 2. Allocation of Capital10
1. 1. 3. Corporate Governance
1. 1. 4. Pooling of Savings15
1. 1. 5. Facilitating Exchange17
1. 2. Empirical Literature
1. 2. 1. Cross-Country Studies
1. 2. 2. Cross-Countries Studies with Instrumental Variables
1. 2. 3. Panel Studies
1. 2. 4. Industry-Level Analysis25
1. 2. 5. Regional Evidence
2. A Non-Linear Relation?
2. 1. Pre-Financial Crisis Literature
2. 2. Post-Financial Crisis Literature
3. Regulating for Growth-Promoting Finance
3. 1. A Qualitative Evaluation of Financial Development
3. 2. Regulating against financial rent-seeking 51
3. 2. 1. Regulatory Response after the Great Financial Crisis
3. 2. 2. Shortcomings and Possible Solutions
Conclusion 58
Bibliography

Introduction

The role of the financial sector in economic growth as an object of inquiry had been inquired by early scholars. Remarkable examples are found in Bagehot (1873), Schumpeter (1911), Robinson (1952), and Gurley and Shaw (1955). Despite this, it was not until the nineties that the discipline really took off. Since then, both theoretical literature and empirical research have developed rapidly.

The reason behind this academic interest lies in the possible policy ramifications that would arise from a clearer understanding of the discipline. Indeed, this significance is also highlighted by Ross Levine, one of the most established and prolific scholars in the finance and growth literature: "information about the impact of finance on economic growth will influence the priority that policymakers and advisors attach to reforming financial sector policies." (Levine, 2004, p. 1).

In the current state of affairs, "many central banks work with dynamic stochastic general equilibrium models that do not include a banking sector" (Allen & Carletti , 2010, p. 10). These models assume that the real economy functions efficiently by itself, while the only use for financial systems is to price assets efficiently (MuellBauer, 2010). It follows that regulation on the matter is more of a series of answers to accidents rather than the implementation of a clear regulatory design. In order to overcome an aleatory state of financial supervision, a thorough investigation of finance's influence over economic growth is imperative.

To this end, the initial section of the thesis delves into the academic theories explaining the finance-growth nexus. The bulk of the literature presented suggests that more developed financial systems cultivate innovation and enhance the allocation of resources, thus stimulating growth.

Section 2 discusses the recent empirical literature which presents the nexus betwixt financial deepening and economic growth as non-linear (Loayza & Ranciere, 2006)¹ or non-monotonic (Arcand, Berkes, & Panizza, 2012, 2015)

Section 3 delves into a qualitative analysis of financial development. The central question this section aims to address is: "when does finance help ordinary people and when does it take advantage of them?" (Zingales, 2015, p. 13). While the preponderance of evidence suggests that financial development spurs economic growth, it is fundamental to discern growth-promoting finance from rent-seeking components. To discourage the latter, awareness must be spread. Thereby, the section will underline inefficient, if not fraudulent, financial practices at the outset. Finally, the section will focus on possible regulatory responses.

¹ They find the relationship between financial deepening and economic growth to be negative in the shortrun, mainly due to financial crises, while being a positive relation in the long-run.

1. | The Benefits of Finance to Growth

The complex nexus between the financial sector and economic growth has been a subject of extensive discourse, embracing sundry, and frequently conflicting, theoretical and empirical perspectives. Already Walter Bagehot (1873) stressed the pivotal role of British finance in catalyzing industrialization in England, while Alexander Gerschenkron (1962) further contended that a well-developed financial system constitutes a critical prerequisite for industrialization.

Conversely, Joan Robinson (1952) professed an alternative stance, asserting that financial deepening is solely a consequence of economic development. Hence, the emergence of financial instruments, institutions, and services is merely a response to the demand for such entities by investors and savers.

Hugh T. Patrick (1966) reconciles the two standpoints suggesting that both the "supplyleading" and "demand-following" phenomena arise sequentially in the real-world economy. At first, finance spurs investments in innovation, thus kindling economic growth. Consequently, once the real economy has consolidated, the "demand-following financial response becomes dominant" (Patrick, 1966, p. 177).

While all the previously mentioned academics address the relation between the financial system and growth, economic development and finance remained distinct branches until the nineties. Levine (2021) identifies the emergence of finance and growth literature as a result of the convergence of two strands of research: (a) the endogenous growth models proposed by Romer (1986; 1990) and Aghion and Howitt (1992), which provided analytical frameworks for the investigation of potential determinants of economic growth; (b) financial economics models that analyzed how market frictions motivated the

development of finance, subsequently influencing managerial incentives, corporate governance, and resource allocation. Noteworthy contributors to this second strand include Jensen and Meckling (1976), Stiglitz and Weiss (1981), Fama and Jensen (1983 a, b), Diamond and Dybvig (1983), Diamond (1984), Myers and Majluf (1984), and Grossman and Hart (1986).

1.1. | Functional Theory

The emergence of financial systems "to ameliorate transaction and information costs, [...] naturally influence the allocation of resources across space and time" (Merton & Bodie, 1995, p. 12). Levine further secerns this primary function into five, arguing that "financial systems: (a) facilitate the trading, hedging, diversifying, and pooling of risk, (b) allocate resources², (c) monitor managers and exert corporate control, (d) mobilize savings, and (e) facilitate the exchange of goods and services" (Levine, 1997, p. 691).

As a result, financial development ensues when financial instruments, markets, and intermediaries perform more effectively their functions, thereby cutting information, transaction, and enforcement costs.

1.1.1. | Amelioration of Risk

The first function of the financial system to influence resource allocation, hence growth, is that of risk amelioration. Financial instruments, markets, and institutions provide savers the possibility to mitigate liquidity risk, improve intertemporal sharing of risk, and enhance cross-sectional diversification of risk. Indeed, in the absence of a financial system, investors would not be provided the option to trade and diversify risk. They will

² In following works, Levine specifies that the function consists in the production of information "ex ante about possible investments" (Levine, 2004, p. 5) and the allocation of capital.

thereby avoid investments in high-return activities, which in turn could potentially affect adversely economic growth.

In order to fully comprehend the functioning of finance in ameliorating risk, I proceed to categorize two types of risk: (a) unsystematic risk, and (b) liquidity risk.

Unsystematic risk is associated with individual projects, companies, industries, and other micro-economic factors. Financial instruments, markets, and intermediaries afford investors the means to effectively trade, pool, and diversify risk. Extensive scholarly discourse underscores that, by providing vehicles for cross-sectional diversification, financial systems profoundly influence resource allocation and saving dynamics. Consequently, capital is channeled towards endeavors characterized by higher expected returns, thereby catalyzing the enhancement of economic growth.³

Additionally, King and Levine (1993b) find that financial systems that facilitate risk diversification can also affect growth by fostering technological change. The scholars elaborate a model in which individuals and entities persistently seek to make technological progress to secure a profitable niche in the market. Nonetheless, in doing so, agents face risks inherently associated with innovation. However, King and Levine argue that the ability to maintain a "diversified portfolio of innovative projects can reduce the risk of investing in innovation." (Levine, 2021, p. 19). Consequently, financial systems that improve diversification opportunities promote technological development, effectively boosting economic growth.

³ Acemoglu and Zilibotti analyze the nexus between risk, diversification, and economic growth. Their model assumes that: (a) high-return ventures frequently involve indivisible assets and substantial initial investments; (b) individuals are risk averse; (c) lower-return, safer alternatives are available, and (d) capital is scarce. They find that "productivity endogenously increases as the diversification opportunities improve." (Acemoglu & Zilibotti, 1997, p. 745).

Besides reducing unsystematic risk, financial systems may also mitigate the risks associated with liquidity. In the context of this study, liquidity denotes the ease and cost of converting financial assets and securities into purchasing power at agreed-upon rates. Therefore, liquidity risk emerges due to the uncertainties in exchanging financial instruments into readily available means of exchange.

Similarly to unsystematic risk, liquidity risk obstructs economic development by discouraging investors from committing their savings to high-return projects. This is because, while savers are prone to retain control over their investments, high-return endeavors often require a substantial, and protracted commitment of capital. Logically, unless the financial system enhances liquidity for such long-term ventures, suboptimal quantities of capital will be provided to high-return projects, hindering economic growth.

Levine (1991) constructs an endogenous growth model in which stock markets emerge to mitigate risk and catalyze economic growth. The model expands upon the endogenous growth literature and builds upon the frameworks in which financial contracts arise as optimal responses to the informational and risk characteristics of an economy⁴.

In the model, savers can either invest in a liquid, low-return project or an illiquid, highreturn one. Following the decision, a portion of savers face unexpected shocks, prompting those affected to seek early access to their invested funds. The risk of premature capital withdrawal before the illiquid project starts producing creates an incentive for investing in liquid projects, hindering economic growth and technological innovation.

⁴ See Diamond and Dybvig (1983), and Diamond (1984).

Furthermore, the model posits that verifying whether an individual experiences a shock is exceptionally costly. This assumption precludes the feasibility of state-contingent insurance contracts and therefore incentivizes the development of financial markets.

Levine (1991) shows how markets can counteract liquidity risk by inserting the option to sell equity in the framework: savers can trade their claim in the profits to other investors, providing firms and savers continuous access to capital. Furthermore, since markets are impersonal, participants will not face informational costs in verifying whether agents received shocks or not. As markets facilitate trade, they reduce liquidity risk, thereby fostering investment in illiquid, high-return projects.

While Levine (1991) analyzes the impact of markets on growth, Bencivenga and Smith (1991) focus on banks. They develop a growth "model in which the equilibrium behavior of competitive institutions (banks) affects resource allocations" (p. 195), thereby influencing real rates of growth. They find that banks, by offering an adequate mix of liquid and illiquid projects, can both satisfy demands on deposits and facilitate long-run investments in innovation, thus expediting economic growth.

Aghion, Angeletos, Banerjee, Manova (2010) shift their focus towards the production side of the economy rather than savers. They construct a model where firms have two investment options: *short-term investment*, which generates output (and liquidity) relatively quickly, and *long-term investment* (e.g., R&D) which contributes more significantly to productivity growth but takes more time to complete.

9

Primarily, they argue that underdeveloped financial systems lead to a procyclical allocation of long-term investment. A cyclical composition of investment leads to two additional predictions.

Firstly, because *long-term investment* tends to have a more substantial impact on productivity compared to *short-term investment*, tighter credit constraints exacerbate procyclicality in the economy's growth rate. Specifically, "the cyclical behavior of the composition of investment mitigates fluctuations when financial markets are perfect, but amplifies them when credit constraints are sufficiently tight" (Aghion, Angeletos, Banerjee, & Manova, 2010, p. 247).

Secondly, because tighter credit constraints heighten the liquidity risk associated with *long-term investment*, they reduce the tendency to engage in such ventures.

These findings suggest that financial frictions, particularly prevalent in economies with underdeveloped financial systems, reduce mean growth and increase volatility. Notably, unlike other models of financial frictions, these results are not driven by cyclical patterns of aggregate saving and investment. Instead, they are influenced by the cyclical composition of investment.

1.1.2. | Allocation of Capital

One of the key functions of the financial system is allocating society's savings to firms and individuals. In order to reach an optimal allocation of capital, it is imperative to collect and assess information on possible investments. It is fundamental to note that, while informational differences characterize numerous markets, they are particularly pronounced in financial markets. Borrowers cannot be expected to be entirely truthful about their moral rectitude and quality of their projects, since exaggerating positive qualities may be considerably profitable. Unless abundant and reliable information is available, savers will be reluctant to invest, possibly impeding the optimal allocation of capital.

The process of gathering and analyzing information is significantly costly. In the absence of financial intermediaries, each investor would have to face these high search costs, making them a significant impediment for individual agents. The inability of individual savers to monitor perfectly causes deserving, high-value firms to be underfunded, while possibly leading underserving firms to earn rents.

Groups of individuals may form financial intermediaries conducting informational searches about potential investments on behalf of others, thereby economizing on information acquisition costs and addressing informational asymmetries. Consequently, financial intermediaries potentially steer funds towards the highest valued users, thus positively impacting resource allocation. Indeed, Goldsmith noted that the "financial structure of an economy accelerates economic growth and improves economic performance to the extent that it facilitates the migration of funds to the best user" (Goldsmith, 1969, p. 400).

Academic research also delved into the scrutiny of stock markets in shaping information production. In particular, this analysis highlights how liquid markets reduce transaction costs and profit opportunities deriving from the acquisition of new, relevant information on firms. Therefore, large, liquid financial markets create an incentive for investors to research firms (Levine, 2021).⁵

Finally, Robert Merton theorizes that, in the presence of large, liquid markets, the acquisition of private information can be more easily disguised and exploited to profit off of it by trading on the markets. The result is an incentive in informational research with positive ramifications for capital allocation (Merton, 1987).

1.1.3. | Corporate Governance

Other than contributing to efficient capital allocation, financial systems function as a monitoring instrument for firms. Creditors effectively monitoring firms positively influence savings and capital allocation. The underlying rationale is that, when investors effectively monitor firms, managers are pushed to maximize firm value, improving resource allocation and spurring economic growth. Inversely, the absence of financial systems may obstruct the flow of capital toward profitable investments and hinder the mobilization of savings (Stiglitz & Weiss, 1983).

In order to comprehend the emergence and influence of financial intermediaries in corporate control, it is imperative to delve into an analysis of the agency problem. The agency problem constitutes a fundamental aspect of the contractual view of the firm, as articulated by Jensen and Meckling (1976), and Fama and Jensen (1983a, b). At its core, the agency problem arises from the separation between control and ownership.

⁵ In his research, Levine refers to academic literature by Grossman and Stiglitz (1980), Holmström and Tirole (1993), and Kyle (1984).

In the case where financing involves small, numerous investors, these investors are often inadequately informed to effectively exercise their control rights. Furthermore, due to each shareholder having a lack of expertise and a small stake, a free-rider problem may arise.

The free-rider problem faced by single investors renders gathering information about the enterprises they financed or participating in governance activities undesirable. Consequently, the effective control rights of managers – and thus their discretion in allocating funds – become considerably broader than they would have been if the financiers were actively engaged in meticulous contract enforcement (Shleifer & Vishny, 1997). Therefore, ineffective monitoring and lack of control leads managers to act in their own best interests, leaving firm value behind, with adverse effects on resource allocation and economic growth.

Having a large, concentrated owner, instead, avoids entirely the free-rider problem. Indeed, large owners have both the interest in overseeing managers and the authority to curb managerial discretion (Grossman & Hart, 1980; Shleifer & Vishny, 1986). However, concentrated ownership gives rise to a fundamental issue: large investors represent their own interests, which need not align with the interests of other stakeholders. Therefore, large investors, in pursuit of their own welfare, can redistribute wealth – both efficiently and inefficiently – from others. They can do so by outright expropriating resources from the firm (e.g. paying themselves special dividends), or by exploiting other business relationships with related parties (e.g. providing them jobs, or generous business deals), as underlined by Shleifer and Vishny (1997). Related evidence on the relationship between the ownership structure of a firm and its profitability, as measured by Tobin's Qs, is provided by Morck, Shleifer, and Vishny (1988). They find evidence of a significant nonmonotonic relationship. At first, as a shareholder's ownership is in the range between 0 and 5 percent, Tobin's Q increases; after the 5 percent threshold is exceeded, profitability declines. One possible interpretation – consistent with the role of incentives in mitigating agency costs – is that performance initially improves with higher ownership concentration. However, as ownership exceeds a certain threshold, large owners attain near-complete control to prioritize the exploitation of firms by engaging in rent-seeking activities, thus stymieing economic growth.

Given the obstacles posed by high ownership, as well as exceptionally dispersed ownership, financial intermediaries may emerge to oversee firms and managers. Firstly, intermediaries pool savings from numerous individuals. In turn, these savings are loaned to firms, upon which the intermediary shall perform monitoring and enforce corporate governance. Therefore, the financial intermediary assumes the role of "delegated monitor", economizing on aggregate monitoring costs and avoiding the free-rider problem (Diamond, 1984).

Bencivenga and Smith (1993) further demonstrate that financial intermediaries, by economizing on monitoring costs – hence enhancing corporate governance – alleviate credit rationing and stimulate productivity, capital accumulation, and ultimately, economic growth.

Additionally, Levine (1997; 2004; 2021) argues that financial intermediaries foster innovative activities by bearing monitoring expenses, which are notably costly in the

innovation sector. As a result, credit allocation among competing technology producers improves, thereby positively affecting economic growth.⁶

While scholars generally support that financial institutions positively affect corporate governance, the same cannot be said about financial markets. The debate as to whether liquid markets improve or weaken institutional monitoring remains ambiguous.

One perspective posits that liquidity facilitates the concealment of informed trades, thereby increasing both the likelihood of monitoring – hence corporate governance – and trading profits. Indeed, the cost of monitoring can be recuperated thanks to the ability to purchase shares in the open market at a cost that does not yet fully reflect the firm's value (Maug, 2002).

By contrast, Roosenboom, Schlingemann, and Vasconcelos (2014) find that "stock liquidity weakens institutions' incentives to monitor management decisions" (p. 2392). The more liquid the markets, the lower the costs of exit. Therefore, investors, rather than face costly monitoring expenses, have an easy way out of their "unhappy" investments. Shareholders are thus discouraged from effectively influencing the firm to achieve better returns and will simply sell out (Bhide, 1993). Furthermore, reduced exit costs also encourage more diffuse ownership, giving rise to agency problems.

1. 1. 4. | Pooling of Savings

An integral part of the financial system is that of pooling (or mobilization), thus the aggregation of household wealth to fund indivisible or efficient-scale enterprises.

⁶ Levine (1997; 2004; 2021) refers to the model developed by de la Fuente and Marin (1996).

Accordingly, a lack of access to multiple investors would restrict many production processes to economically inefficient scales (Sirri & Tufano, 1995).

The barriers to the performance of mobilization primarily stem from transaction costs and informational asymmetries. To provide further clarification on the former, Levine (1997) references Carosso's (1970) *Investment Banking in America: A History*. Specifically, Levine highlights how investment banks had to employ "a vast sales force that traveled through every state and territory selling securities to individual households" (p. 699). This, in addition to other diverse and intricate means to raise capital, entailed significant transaction costs.

Informational asymmetries are instead associated with persuading savers to relinquish control of their savings. To accomplish this, "mobilizers" are typically focused on establishing outstanding reputations or government backing.

Given the transaction and information costs associated with the pooling of savings from multiple agents, various financial arrangements may emerge to alleviate these frictions and facilitate mobilization. The fundamental arrangement consists of *multiple* bilateral contracts, prescribing the economic relationship between a set of capital providers and one of productive units. This multilateral conception of pooling gives rise to entities that mediate between households and firms – financial intermediaries – and economize on the transaction and information costs of *multiple* bilateral contracts (Sirri & Tufano, 1995).

Financial developments that lower costs and improve mobilization can significantly impact economic development. Apart from the effect on capital accumulation, enhanced savings mobilization can both enhance resource allocation and stimulate technological innovation. Acemoglu and Zilibotti (1997) demonstrate that financial arrangements capable of mobilizing savings from numerous individuals and investing in a diversified portfolio of risky projects, enable a reallocation of investment toward higher-return activities, thereby leading to positive impacts on economic growth.

1. 1. 5. | Facilitating Exchange

The last growth-promoting function of finance identified by Levine (1997) is that of facilitating exchange. Financial arrangements that reduce transaction costs have the potential to stimulate specialization. With greater specialization, workers are more inclined to devise better machines or production processes, thus stimulating productivity.⁷

Greenwood and Smith (1997) formally model the links between exchange, specialization, and innovation. Firstly, they argue that market formation is endogenous and requires prior real development. Secondly, as markets develop, they foster specialization. This is due to the fact that a greater degree of specialization requires more transactions. Since financial development lowers transaction costs, greater specialization is incentivized, encouraging growth.

1.2. | Empirical Literature

In this section, I will review some of the notable examples of empirical literature showing that financial deepening has a positive, monotonic impact on economic growth. The early body of research is principally composed of cross-country studies, with the seminal work being King and Levine (1993a). Subsequent studies employing time-series and panel techniques, examining regional or sectoral variations within countries have shown that

⁷ Levine references to Smith's (1776) Wealth of Nations.

the robust positive correlation between finance and growth found in prior research may also support a causal inference, suggesting that finance causes growth. More recent microeconomic analyses, leveraging well-defined proxies for financing constraints at firm and household levels, have advanced this argument further by elucidating specific theoretical mechanisms for how access to finance should impact economic growth (Popov, 2017).

Remarkably, Levine (2004) underlines a significant drawback in the existing literature: "there is frequently an insufficiently precise link between theory and measurement" (p. 38). Although this issue is acknowledged, due to specific methodological progress in empirical studies, his review, similarly to Popov's (2017), is organized around econometric approaches, rather than around studies that accurately quantify each of the functions emphasized by the theoretical framework. Therefore, I will structure the following empirical review according to the same approach.

1. 2. 1. | Cross-Country Studies

King and Levine (1993a) conducted a comprehensive study across 77 countries over the period 1960-1989, systematically controlling for various country-specific indicators known to influence economic growth, such as initial wealth, secondary school enrollment, and population growth. They utilized multiple proxies for financial development (e.g., *Private credit:* credit to the private sector normalized by GDP). Furthermore, they investigated theoretical channels through which finance affects growth, such as capital accumulation and total factor productivity growth. Their analysis revealed a strong and significant association between contemporaneous measures of financial development and economic growth.

Furthermore, King and Levine (1993a) attempted to determine a causal relationship between finance and growth by adopting a *post hoc* approach. Specifically, they examined how much of the cross-country variation in average economic growth could be explained by the initial level of *Private Credit* in 1960. Their regression indicated that the original level of *Private Credit* was a reliable predictor of subsequent economic growth rates over the next three decades.

As stressed in the review of the theory on finance and its implications for growth, financial markets can also perform functions that influence economic growth. Thus, Levine and Zervos (1998) examine the effect of financial markets on long-run economic growth. Specifically, they assess the impact of stock market liquidity (measured by the turnover ratio)⁸ on capital accumulation, productivity enhancement, and overall growth. The study is built on a sample of 42 countries over the period 1976-1993⁹. Their findings – controlling for banking sector development, initial income, and other determinants of growth – suggest a positive and significant correlation between the initial levels of stock market liquidity and economic growth. Remarkably, their regression also suggests that stock market size, volatility, and international integration do not robustly correlate with growth. Therefore, they argue it is the ability to trade a stock, rather than the capacity of listing them, that facilitates efficient resource allocation, and subsequent growth.

1. 2. 2. | Cross-Countries Studies with Instrumental Variables

The first methodological progress aimed at establishing a causal impact involves employing instrumental variables to isolate the exogenous aspect of financial

⁸ The total value of shares traded relative to the stock market capitalization.

⁹ Data sample from Demirguc-Kunt and Levine (1996).

development. The seminal studies by La Porta, Lopez-de-Silanes, Shleifer, and Vishny (1996; 1997; 1998), hereafter referred to as LLSV, argued that the differences in the nature and efficacy of financial systems can be partly attributed to disparities in investors safeguards against insider expropriation, as evidenced by legal regulations and enforcement. The rationale stems from the contractual nature of financial transactions: a legal system favoring investors and effectively enforcing their rights is likely to foster financial development.

Firstly, LLSV find profound differences in legal origins: civil law jurisdictions give investors weaker legal rights compared to common law jurisdictions. The most notable contrast lies between common law nations, which provide relatively robust protections for both stockholders and creditors, and French civil law nations, which offer the least protection to investors. German and Scandinavian countries fall in an intermediate position. However, German and Scandinavian civil law countries rank highest in law enforcement, followed by common law jurisdictions, and lastly by French civil law nations.

Secondly, based on a dataset comprising 49 countries, LLSV find that nations with weaker investor protections tend to possess smaller and less diversified equity and debt markets. Indeed, the study reveals that French civil law jurisdictions have the least developed capital markets.

Expanding upon the law and finance literature, Levine (2001) and Beck, Levine, and Loayza (2000) apply LLSV legal origin indicator as instruments for *Private Credit*. They find that financial deepening correlates with hastier economic growth. Moreover, the

estimated effect of financial development on growth holds substantial economic significance, further reinforcing the case for a causal relationship from finance to growth.

Applying identical econometric techniques and datasets, Rioja and Valev (2004) find that financial development enhances growth in developed countries primarily by boosting productivity growth. In contrast, in less developed countries, finance stimulates growth by expediting capital accumulation.

Using a cross-country sample of 32 countries, Brown, Martinsson, and Petersen (2013) associate legal institutions with tangible activities that stimulate innovation and foster economic growth. They find that "strong shareholder protections and better access to stock market financing lead to substantially higher long-run rates of R&D investment" (p. 1517), particularly among smaller firms, boosting firm growth.

The interpretation of instrumental variables evidence is still up to academic debate. Levine, Loayza, and Beck (2000) argue that financial development enhances steady-state growth. However, Aghion, Howitt, and Mayer-Foulkes (2004) contest this interpretation, emphasizing that financial development dictates the pace at which countries converge to their steady-state values.

Additionally, the legal origin approach faces certain challenges. Notably, Rajan and Zingales (2003) tested various indicators of financial development for developed countries from 1913 to 1999. They argue that the legal system, being a structural factor, should have a relatively time-invariant effect on financial development. In other terms, measures of financial development should not strongly fluctuate independently of demand over time. However, their data suggests that countries were more financially

developed in 1913 compared to 1980, and only recently they have surpassed their 1913 levels. Interestingly, in 1913, France's stock market capitalization as a fraction of GDP nearly doubled that of the United States, despite the French Civil Code being less favorable to investors. However, by 1980, this scenario had dramatically reversed, with France's capitalization plummeting to a fraction of what the United States held. Similarly, in 1913, several continental European countries boasted greater financial development than the United States. These findings, contrary to the findings of LLSV (1996; 1997; 1998) for the 1990s, reveal that countries with Common Law systems were not inherently more financially developed in 1913, raising questions about whether legal origin fulfills the relevance condition for a valid instrument.

1.2.3. | Panel Studies

Transitioning from a cross-country to a panel setting offers several advantages. Firstly, it enables the exploitation of both time-series and cross-sectional variations in the data. Secondly, it allows for mitigating biases associated with excluding time-invariant country characteristics from the pure cross-country framework. Thirdly, the panel framework facilitates instrumenting all regressors, not solely financial development, resulting in more precise estimates of the finance-growth nexus.

However, there are three primary disadvantages to this approach. Firstly, the models used to analyze the data are typically models of steady-state growth. Therefore, panel data, which inherently lacks precision in representing long-term relationships, may result in an imprecise evaluation of the finance-growth nexus. Secondly, the effectiveness of the employed dynamic panel technique relies heavily on the availability of a sufficiently extensive time span. Lastly, this approach is sensitive to outliers and minor model variations (Popov, 2017).¹⁰

The seminal studies employing panel generalized method of moments (GMM) estimators to examine how financial development affects growth rates are the already cited Beck, Levine, and Loayza (2000) and Levine, Loayza, and Beck (2000). They find that financial development maintains a positive and statistically significant effect on economic growth, closely aligning with findings from pure cross-country and instrumental variable regressions discussed earlier. Thus, the substantial and positive association between economic growth and *Private Credit* does not seem to be influenced by potential biases stemming from simultaneity, omitted variables, or unobserved country-specific effects.

To address the challenges associated with assessing long-term relationships in panel studies Using panel cointegration analyses¹¹ and data from ten developing countries, Christopoulos and Tsionas (2004) offer strong support for the hypothesis that long-term causality flows from financial development to growth, with no evidence of causality in the opposite direction.

Researchers have also utilized panel techniques to investigate stock markets. For instance, Rousseau and Wachtel (2000) explore the relationship between stock markets, banks, and growth. They estimate vector autoregressions (VARs) for a dataset of 47 countries with annual data spanning from 1980 to 1995. Their findings indicate that stock market

¹⁰ Popov references the IMF Working Paper by Giovanni Favara (2003).

¹¹ By testing for cointegration, which indicates the presence of a long-term equilibrium relationship, panel cointegration analysis helps alleviate the limitation of the panel framework in accurately capturing long-term relationships.

liquidity and the level of activity of traditional financial intermediaries have a prominent role in the expansion of output per capita.

Beck and Levine (2004) aggregate data over five-year periods to focus on longer-term growth factors. Their findings reveal a positive influence of both stock markets and banks on economic growth (validating the findings of Levine and Zervos (1998)).

Ang and Madsen (2012) utilize panel data covering 77 countries from 1965 to 2009 to examine the impacts of risk capital and private credit on stimulating knowledge production. They conclude that countries with more developed financial systems tend to exhibit greater innovation.

Pradhan, Arvin, Bennett, Nair, and Hall (2016) investigate the causal relationship between bond market development and economic growth across 35 countries from 1993 to 2011. They define bond market development as the significance and occurrence of public sector, private sector, and international bond issues. Additional covariates under consideration include the inflation rate, the real effective exchange rate, the real interest rate, and a measure of openness to international trade. Their findings suggest that bond market development and the four covariates may serve as long-term causal factors for economic growth.

Finally, Laeven, Levine, and Michalopoulos (2015) develop a Schumpeterian growth model in which entrepreneurs generate profits by developing better goods, while profitdriven financiers emerge to evaluate entrepreneurs. Their model introduces two innovative elements: (a) financiers invest in the costly, but potentially lucrative, endeavor of innovation themselves, seeking to improve methods for screening entrepreneurs; (b) technological advancement renders each screening process less effective over time. The model predicts that without financial innovation, technological innovation and economic growth will eventually stagnate. To empirically validate their model, they construct a proxy for financial innovation based on the speed at which each country adopts a private credit bureau to exchange information about potential borrowers. They find that financial innovation enhances the pace of economic growth, particularly in less developed countries.

1. 2. 4. | Industry-Level Analysis

In their pioneering study, Rajan and Zingales (1998) investigate a specific mechanism through which financial systems may influence economic growth. They emphasize the crucial role of the financial system in screening and funding projects with positive net present value. A well-functioning financial system reduces the costs for deserving firms to acquire external financing. Consequently, industries that heavily depend on external finance for technological reasons are expected to benefit disproportionately from financial development compared to other industries.

To identify industries that are more dependent on external finance, Rajan and Zingales assume that: (a) financial markets in the U.S. are relatively frictionless; (b) in a frictionless financial system, technological factors influence the extent to which firms in an industry utilize external finance; and (c) the technological factors influencing external finance are constant across countries. This approach allows Rajan and Zingales to test a clear theoretical channel for how finance should affect growth, and incorporate both country and industry fixed effects, which help to neutralize the impact of unobservable factors that are common to all industries within a country and to the same industry across countries.

Using data from 41 countries and 36 manufacturing industries during the 1980s, Rajan and Zingales find strong evidence that sectors relying more on external finance tend to experience significantly faster growth. Subsequent research corroborates the relatively stronger positive impact of financial development on the growth of industries heavily dependent on external finance.¹²

Beck, Demirguc-Kunt, Laeven, and Levine (2004) utilize Rajan and Zingales approach to investigate the links between finance, firm dimension, and economic growth. They highlight the inherent informational opacity and screening challenges associated with small firms. Consequently, financial systems that effectively mitigate informational asymmetries could yield disproportionately greater benefits for industries predominantly comprised of small firms due to technological reasons. Using cross-industry, crosscountry data, their findings suggest that financial development has a substantial impact on the growth of industries that rely more on small firms for technological reasons. Moreover, "[t]his suggests that financial development accelerates economic growth by removing growth constraints on small firms and also implies that financial development has sectoral as well as aggregate growth ramifications" (Beck, Demirguc-Kunt, Laeven, & Levine, p. 2).

In a significant paper, Fisman and Love (2007) argue that external finance dependence may not be the most suitable industry-specific benchmark to consider. Instead, they

¹² See Guiso, Jappelli, Padula, and Pagano (2004), Svaleryd and Vlachos (2005).

propose that financial markets influence industrial growth primarily through reallocating resources toward their most productive use. To test this hypothesis, Fisman and Love (2007) utilize data on the sales growth of large manufacturing listed firms in the U.S. during the 1980s to construct an empirical proxy for *growth opportunities*. Their rationale is that growth rates of financially unconstrained firms in the U.S. serve as a good proxy for the potential growth of their industries globally. Subsequently, they employ the same dataset as Rajan and Zingales (1998) to investigate whether financial development has a disproportionately larger impact on industries with promising growth prospects. Their findings indicate that financially developed countries experience accelerated value-added growth in sectors that grow faster in the United States. Moreover, they demonstrate that variations in industry-specific growth opportunities account for a larger share of variation in growth rates across countries with different levels of financial development compared to variations in industry-specific dependence on external finance.

In line with the theory of financial development mitigating informational asymmetries, Strieborny and Kukenova (2016), using data from 28 industries across 90 countries, discover that firms in industries dependent on close relationships with their banks to alleviate information frictions experience disproportionately faster growth in countries with well-developed banking systems.

Using the Rajan and Zingales (1998) framework, researchers have also examined the effects of financial liberalization on growth, aiming to address econometric concerns related to the reverse causality and omitted variables bias. Gupta and Yuan (2009) explore the impact of stock market liberalization on industry growth within a sample of 27 industries and 31 emerging markets. Their cross-sectional analysis reveals that

liberalization leads to an upsurge in industry value-added growth, investment, and average market capitalization. These findings align with the notion that market liberalization mitigates financing constraints. Notably, this effect on growth seems to stem from the expansion of existing firms rather than the entry of financially constrained new firms. Furthermore, in contrast with their cross-sectional findings, their withinindustry results suggest that establishment growth in these industries remains unchanged post-liberalization.

To reconcile the two results, Gupta and Yuan argue that barriers to entry at both the industry and country levels may hinder new firms from uniformly benefitting from liberalization. Additionally, their analysis indicates that existing firms' growth is substantially higher in industries undergoing privatization following stock market liberalization. Hence, liberalization yields a more consistent growth impact when accompanied by reforms aimed at enhancing competition.

The cross-industry framework has also been employed to explore the impact of venture capital on growth. For instance, Kortum and Lerner (2000) demonstrate that the substantial expansion in venture capital financing during the 1980s and early 1990s corresponded with a significant increase in rates of industrial innovation. Indeed, their analysis reveals a strong association between increases in venture capital financing within an industry and substantially higher patenting rates.

Another significant inquiry pertains to the influence of non-bank finance on the establishment of new businesses. Popov and Roosenboom (2013) explore the impact of risk capital markets on growth using a database of 20 firms from 21 European countries from 1998 to 2008. They find evidence that venture capital investment positively affects

the rate of new business creation. Their findings indicate that, after accounting for country and industry characteristics, as well as the endogeneity of venture capital, venture capital plays a pivotal role in fostering growth by introducing new ideas to the market in the form of new companies.

1. 2. 5. | Regional Evidence

Research efforts have focused on making use of within-country regional heterogeneity deriving from the implementation of policies promoting financial development. This methodology was introduced by Jayaratne and Strahan (1996), who investigated the effects of banking sector competition on growth by capitalizing on variations in the timing of deregulation of local banking markets across states in the United States. These regulatory changes were similar in structure but occurred in different years across states, providing a natural experiment. The researchers' findings indicated that competition-enhancing regulatory reforms spurred economic growth by enhancing the efficiency of credit allocation while having minimal impact on lending quantity.

However, competition-enhancing banking reforms may be prompted by anticipation of future growth opportunities (unobservable to econometricians). To tackle this issue, Huang (2008) examines changes in growth rates for neighboring countries across state borders. These countries, being immediate neighbors, are presumed to be similar in both observable and unobservable conditions, and would likely follow comparable economic trajectories in the absence of changes in bank entry barriers. Their findings demonstrate that the primary findings of Jayaratne and Strahan (1996) persist even in this more stringent specification, albeit with a reduced magnitude of the impact of banking deregulation on growth.

The Jayaratne and Strahan method has also been applied to examine the relationship between bank deregulation across U.S. states and innovation, a crucial component of economic growth. Chava, Oettl, Subramanian, and Subramanian (2013) argue that interstate banking regulation, which bolstered the local market power of banks, reduced both the level and risk of innovation by young, private firms. Conversely, interstate banking deregulations, which diminished the local market power of banks, increased both the level and risk of innovation by young, private firms. Additionally, Acharya, Imbs, and Sturgess (2010) document that banking deregulation in the U.S. improved resource allocation, resulting in higher rates of statewide growth for the same level of growth volatility.

The French banking reforms of 1985 serve as another natural laboratory for investigating the impact of banking deregulation on growth. These reforms abolished subsidized loans and monthly ceilings on credit growth, unified banking regulation, and privatized several banks. Bertrand, Schoar, and Thesmar (2007) investigate the consequences of banking deregulation on the growth of the French economy. The authors find that the reforms resulted in increased firm-level productivity. Moreover, their findings indicate that following deregulation, banks were less inclined to bail out poorly performing firms, and raised the cost of capital for such firms. This resulted in lower industry concentration ratios and heightened rates of both entry and exit for firms: underperforming firms were more likely to exit the market, indicating enhanced efficiency in product markets.

Guiso, Sapienza, and Zingales (2004) analyze variations in financial development in an integrated market, Italy, across individual regions. They develop an indicator of financial development by estimating the regional effect on the likelihood that a household lacks

access to the credit market. Using this indicator, they find that financial development enhances the likelihood of individuals starting new businesses, increases competition within industries, stimulates firm growth, and hence enhances regional growth. However, these effects are less pronounced for large firms, which have greater access to funding beyond their local areas.

2. | A Non-Linear Relation?

In the previous chapter, I delved into the extensive literature highlighting the critical role of the financial system in fostering economic growth. However, more recent research has brought attention to significant nonlinearities in this relationship. For instance, De Gregorio and Guidotti (1995) found a positive correlation between financial depth and economic growth in high-income countries until the 1970-85 period, after which it turned negative. Similarly, Rousseau and Wachtel (2011) observed a diminishing influence of finance over time. Analyzing data up to 2004, their findings reveal a positive impact of finance from 1960-1989, which diminishes in the post-1990 period and eventually turns slightly negative. Arcand, Berkes, and Panizza (2012; 2015) investigated the threshold at which finance occurs when credit to the private sector reaches 100% of GDP. Therefore, in this second chapter, I will delve into a review of prominent research revealing non-linear dynamics in the finance-growth relationship, along with the potential explanations and channels underlying these phenomena.

2. 1. | Pre-Financial Crisis Literature

"When Levine (2004) completed his survey on finance and growth the profession was close to a consensus on the fact that finance does matter for economic growth" (Panizza, 2013, p. 8).¹³ Nonetheless, some early studies challenged or nuanced this relationship. For instance, Demetriades and Hussein (1996) question the validity of prior empirical studies in assessing causality. Initially, they scrutinize the reliability of cross-sectional

¹³ Yet, uncertainties lingered regarding finance's role in convergence or steady-state growth. Aghion, Howitt, and Mayer-Foulkes (2004) argued that financial development speeds up the rate of convergence but does not significantly impact long-term growth.

studies, challenging the notion that positive cross-sectional correlations between financial development and economic growth inevitably imply causality. They argue that such correlations can be interpreted differently, the simplest of which would be reverse causality, echoing Joan Robinson's assertion that "where enterprise leads finance follows" (Robinson, 1952, p. 86). Hence, the mere existence of cross-sectional correlations between financial development and economic growth does not establish causality.

Subsequently, the scholars identify two key challenges to King and Levine's (1993a) attempt to establish causality. Firstly, they note that indicators of financial development within a country often exhibit temporal correlation. Consequently, the initial value of an indicator can serve as a robust proxy for its contemporaneous level, which is omitted from the equation. As a result, inferring anything beyond a contemporaneous correlation between growth and financial development from the King and Levine results is deemed invalid. Secondly, they highlight that the cross-sectional nature of the analysis fails to accommodate variations in causal patterns among different countries. It is plausible that finance may act as a leading sector in some countries while lagging behind others. Therefore, any causality result derived is only applicable on average, if at all.

Subsequently, Demetriades and Hussein (1996) re-examine the causality issue by employing a cointegrated time-series approach across 16 countries. Their findings reveal a consistent long-term relationship between measures of financial development and real GDP per capita across 14 nations. However, while they identify bidirectional causality in seven countries, they detect clear instances of reverse causality (from economic growth to financial development) in six cases (El Salvador, Greece, Pakistan, Portugal, South Africa, and Turkey). Moreover, their study underscored the variation in causality patterns across countries, further emphasizing the pitfalls of statistical inference derived from cross-sectional country studies that implicitly assume homogeneity among diverse economies.

Similarly, De Gregorio and Guidotti (1995) find significant variations in the relationship between long-term economic growth and financial development across different nations. Furthermore, they present an alarming finding, revealing a negative correlation across twelve Latin American countries over the period spanning from 1950 to 1985, arguing that the latter is the result of financial liberalization within a poor regulatory environment.

The importance of institutional factors is further investigated by Demetriades and Law (2006) who analyze the variation in the growth impact of financial development across countries with varying levels of institutional development. Their study employs a dataset comprising a panel of observations for 72 countries over the period from 1978 to 2000, with countries categorized into high-income, middle-income, and low-income groups based on the World Bank classification. Their findings suggest that financial development yields more pronounced effects on GDP per capita when operating within a robust institutional framework. Moreover, they highlight that in low-income countries, the absence of sound institutions may impede financial development from delivering sustained long-term economic benefits.

Rousseau and Wachtel (2002) investigate whether the intensity of the relationship between financial development and economic growth is influenced by the inflation rate. Utilizing five-year averages of standard indicators of financial development, inflation, and growth across 84 countries from 1960 to 1995, their study employs a series of rolling panel regressions. Their findings reveal the presence of an inflation threshold for the finance-growth relationship (estimated to fall between 13 and 25 percent). Once inflation surpasses this threshold, financial development no longer contributes to economic growth. Additionally, they observe that in low-inflation environments the level of financial depth exhibits an inverse relationship with inflation, and that disinflation is associated with a positive impact of financial depth on growth.

Zhu, Ash, and Pollin (2002) contest the validity of the findings put forth by Levine and Zervos (1996; 1998), who argued that "stock market liquidity is a robust predictor of real per capita GDP growth, physical capital growth, and productivity growth" (Levine & Zervos, 1996, p. 3). Instead, Zhu, Ash, and Pollin contend that Levine and Zervos' results are influenced by outliers in their model. While Levine and Zervos claim to have adequately addressed the outlier issue in their model, Zhu, Ash, and Pollin argue that their approach is fundamentally incomplete. They demonstrate that the statistically significant effects of the stock market liquidity variable vanish when employing a more rigorous set of controls for outliers. Their formal replication exercise further reveals that the significance of the stock market liquidity variable primarily stems from the contribution to the "Asian Tiger" economies.

Another non-linearity is presented by Deidda and Fattouh (2002). They apply a threshold regression model to King and Levine's (1993a) dataset and, in low-income countries, they find no significant relationship between financial development and growth. Inversely, in high-income countries, they observe a positive and highly significant relationship between these variables.

Another pivotal aspect in understanding the effects of financial deepening lies in examining the potential hazards associated with it. Contrary to prevailing beliefs, Rajan (2005) argued that the expansion of a vast and intricate financial system may exacerbate systemic risk, thereby exposing economies to financial-sector-induced procyclicality, and heightening the likelihood of a "catastrophic meltdown" (p. 4).

Favara (2003) reassesses the analysis conducted by Levine, Loayza, and Beck (2000) employing a more extended and updated dataset from 85 countries in the period from 1960 to 1998. Like Levine, Loayza, and Beck, Favara utilizes both cross-section and panel estimators. However, the scholar contends that Levine, Loayza, and Beck's two-step GMM estimator may be prone to inaccuracies due to heteroskedastic errors.¹⁴ To address this concern, Favara applies a one-step GMM estimator, which he argues to be more appropriate, revealing that the relationship between finance and growth is, at best, weak. Moreover, Favara uncovers evidence of nonlinearities within the data, indicating that finance only significantly impacts growth at intermediate levels of financial development. Additionally, when estimating the long-run relationship in the panel data, Favara finds no support for the notion that finance fosters growth. Instead, for some specifications, he observes a negative relationship.

Finally, Loayza and Ranciere (2006) acknowledge a discrepancy between the empirical literature examining the impact of financial depth on economic development, and another body of literature that identifies credit growth as a significant predictor of banking and currency crises.¹⁵ In an attempt to reconcile these findings, they employ a panel error correction model to simultaneously estimate the short and long-run effects of financial development. Their findings reveal a positive long-run relationship between financial

¹⁴ Favara bases his argument on econometric literature by Arellano and Bond (1991) and Blundell and Bond (1998).

¹⁵ The authors cite Kaminsky and Reinhart (1999).

intermediation and output growth, alongside a negative short-run relationship between the variables, primarily driven by financial crises.

2. 2. | Post-Financial Crisis Literature

The financial crisis of 2007 marked a significant turning point in perspective. In the aftermath of the crisis, concerns arose regarding the possibility that some countries might have financial systems that are disproportionately large relative to their domestic economies. Consequently, the relationship between finance and economic growth came under increased scrutiny.

Rousseau and Wachtel (2011) reexamined the robustness of the cross-country panel results presented in the seminal paper by King and Levine (1993a) concerning the relationship between financial development and economic growth. Their analysis revealed that the finance-growth relationship, priorly estimated on data from 1960 to 1989, vanished over the following 15 years. Subsequently, they test for potential causes for this phenomenon. Firstly, they pose that excessive financial deepening may concurrently weaken the banking system and stimulate inflationary pressures. To test this hypothesis, the authors scrutinize the relationship between finance and growth among countries that have or have not undergone financial sector crises. Their analysis reveals that if episodes of crises are excluded, the finance-growth nexus persists. Consequently, they argue that the observed weakening of the relationship over time stems from the increased occurrence of crises in later years. Furthermore, they posit that excessive financial deepening could stem from widespread financial liberalizations in the late 1980s and early 1990s, particularly in countries lacking the necessary legal and regulatory infrastructure to effectively harness financial development. However, their analysis

indicates limited evidence suggesting that liberalizations directly played a significant role in diminishing the impact of finance.

Beck, Buyukkarabacak, Rioja, and Valev (2012) highlight the tendency in prior empirical research to utilize aggregate credit measures that combine both enterprise and household credit, despite theoretical models often focusing solely on enterprise credit. In response to this disparity, the scholars aim to document the cross-country variation in household and enterprise credit and evaluate whether the two forms of credit exert distinct impacts on economic growth. After decomposing aggregate bank lending into lending to enterprises and lending to households across 45 countries, Beck, Buyukkarabacak, Rioja, and Valev reveal two main findings. Firstly, they discover that, while enterprise credit exhibits a significant association with economic growth, household credit tends to be higher in economically more developed countries, while regulatory policies and market structure appear to have no significant relationship with credit composition. Their findings provide insight into the non-linear findings of Rioja and Valev (2004), who demonstrated that the effects of financial development on growth are less pronounced in high-income countries compared to middle or low-income countries.

Arcand, Berkes, and Panizza (2012; 2015) investigate whether there exists a threshold beyond which financial development ceases to have a positive impact on economic growth. They utilize different types of estimators, including cross-sectional and panel regressions, as well as semi-parametric estimators across different data sets, encompassing both country-level and industry-level data. They find that the incremental impact of financial depth on output growth turns negative when credit to the private sector reaches levels between 80-100% of GDP. Notably, the authors highlight how the threshold at which they observed financial depth transitioning into a negative effect on growth mirrors the threshold identified by Easterly, Islam, and Stiglitz (2000), where financial depth begins to exert a positive effect on volatility. Consequently, the scholars suggest that a plausible explanation for financial depth yielding diminishing returns is the potential for rapid credit expansion to increase macroeconomic volatility and cause banking crises. However, they also demonstrate that their findings cannot be solely attributed to poor institutional quality, macroeconomic volatility, or financial instability.

The research for a "too much finance" threshold has also been attempted by Beck, Georgiadis, and Straub (2014). Utilizing time-series data from 132 countries spanning the period from 1980 to 2005, they ascertain a threshold for private credit relative to GDP of 109%, beyond which further expansion of credit fails to stimulate growth. However, their estimations exhibit variability across different specifications, indicating that controlling for certain financial variables may alter the threshold at which finance ceases to foster growth. For instance, when accounting for the occurrence of banking crises, the threshold increases to 130% of GDP.

Cecchetti and Kharroubi (2012) also challenge the assumption of a monotonic relationship between finance and growth. Examining a sample of 50 advanced and emerging economies from 1980 to 2009, their analysis uncovers an inverted U-shaped relationship between financial development and productivity growth. Furthermore, they find that when employment in the financial system surpasses 3.5% of total employment, the finance-growth relationship turns negative. Their interpretation suggests that an

excessively rapid expansion of the financial sector attracts excessive physical and human capital, leading to overinvestment and overemployment.

A multitude of empirical studies have highlighted compensation premiums associated with working in the financial sector and have provided evidence suggesting that these premiums represent rents rather than returns to skills.¹⁶ Indeed, if rents are collected within the financial sector, it signifies an oversupply of talent into finance compared to what is socially optimal. Consequently, the ineffective distribution of skilled labor between the financial sector and the real economy hinders productivity and growth.

Kneer (2013) delves into how the absorption of talent into the financial sector influences the productivity and growth of the real sector. Specifically, given that financial liberalization significantly impacts the skill intensity of the financial sector, Kneer examines whether financial reforms have differing effects across manufacturing sectors with varying reliance on skilled labor. Logically, a shift of talent towards finance would disproportionately impact real sectors highly reliant on skilled labor, such as R&D. Indeed, analyzing data from 13 European countries over the period from 1980 to 2005, Kneer finds that industries heavily reliant on R&D experience relatively slower growth following financial liberalization. As a result "financial liberalization disproportionally reduces labor productivity, total factor productivity, and value-added growth" in skillintensive industries (p. 101). Consistent with this finding, Law, Chang, and Singh (2017), argue that the expansion of the financial sector may hinder innovative activities,

¹⁶ Philippon and Reshef (2009; 2012) reveal that in the decade preceding the financial crises, rents contributed to 30% to 50% of the differential between the financial sector and the non-financial sector. Goldin and Katz (2007) demonstrate that graduates employed in finance enjoy an earnings premium of 195% compared to other occupations. Both studies document a substantial increase in the proportion of individuals employed in financial services starting in the 1980s.

consequently hampering innovation-led growth. Employing GMM estimators on a sample encompassing 75 developed and developing countries from 1996 to 2010, they unveil an inverted U-shaped relationship between finance and innovation.

Zhu, Asimakopoulos, and Kim (2020) delve into determining the threshold at which the relationship between finance and innovation turns negative. Their analysis spans 50 countries over the period from 1990 to 2016. After controlling for banking crises, as well as the long-run effects of both the 2007-2008 financial crises and the European sovereign debt crises, they reveal a threshold for private credit relative to GDP of 60%, beyond which innovation exerts no significant effect on growth.

Demetriades, Rousseau, and Rewilak (2017; 2023) challenge the prevailing narrative in the non-linear empirical literature, which often attributes the weakening of the financegrowth relationship to the aftermath of systemic banking crises. Instead, they advocate for considering financial fragility as a crucial factor that hinders the potential benefits of financial development. Their argument posits that elevated levels of impaired loans can raise the cost of new credit for businesses and households, thereby undermining banks' ability to fund productive investments and economic growth, even in the absence of a "full-blown crisis". To investigate this hypothesis, they conduct cross-country regressions using data from 141 countries spanning the period from 2000 to 2014. Their findings reveal that both financial fragility and private credit exert negative impacts on GDP growth. Moreover, their analysis confirms that a high volume of impaired loans exacerbates the adverse effects of private credit on growth.

Finally, Andrianova and Demetriades (2018) identify three interrelated reasons for the possible failure of financial development in promoting economic growth. The first

hypothesis suggests that policies aimed at promoting financial sector development (e.g. deregulation) did not achieve the desired effect on growth because the empirical relationships observed in data from the early 1960s to the mid-1980s were not structural. Therefore, when policymakers attempted to utilize or manipulate these relationships, they ultimately broke down. The second hypothesis takes a political economy perspective, asserting that ruling elites in various countries have exploited financial development for their own profit. This often led to either financial underdevelopment, particularly in low-income countries, or the emergence of excessive financing, resulting in over-indebtedness. The third hypothesis focuses on institutional weaknesses, highlighting the failure of many countries to achieve a minimal threshold of institutional development, particularly in terms of contract enforcement.

3. | Regulating for Growth-Promoting Finance

Levine's (2021) assertion that financial development spurs economic growth ¹⁷ is certainly significant, but it's crucial to acknowledge the limitations of his review. While Levine provides a comprehensive overview of existing literature, it's noteworthy that much of the evidence he presents relies on outdated datasets that only extend up to 2005. This omission is particularly concerning given the growing body of research that has emerged since then. Indeed, the newer strand of research that emerged after the 2007 financial crisis has provided valuable insights into the finance-growth nexus, revealing nonlinear dynamics and enhancing our understanding of the relationship.

In particular, the findings of Demetriades, Rousseau, and Rewilak (2017; 2023) represent a turning point even for the "nonlinear literature". In fact, while prior research focused on how financial crises possibly weakened the finance-growth relationship, the authors revealed how private credit itself and financial fragility had negative impacts on GDP growth across 141 countries from 2000 to 2014.

Another crucial insight is provided by Beck, Buyukkarabacak, Rioja, and Valev (2012). Their disaggregation of enterprise credit and household credit, and the discovery that household credit has no significant correlation with economic growth is pivotal for assessing the effectiveness of financial systems and guiding potential regulatory interventions. This discovery should inform policymakers about the importance of controlling the dramatic rise in household credit while supporting the enterprise credit market (e.g. by avoiding credit rationing and incentivizing bank lending to enterprises).

¹⁷ Levine, Finance, Growth, and Inequality, 2021 (p. 8).

As a result, to this day the quantitative analysis of the finance-growth nexus remains divisive.

3. 1. | A Qualitative Evaluation of Financial Development

Zingales (2015) highlights a clear divergence in the perception of finance between academic economists and society at large. While economists typically emphasize the importance and beneficial role of finance in economies, societies often view finance with skepticism. Indeed, Zingales highlights that this skepticism towards finance has worsened in the aftermath of the 2007 financial crisis but is not a new phenomenon; it is rather a sentiment that has persisted throughout history. Zingales suggests that this "dissonance" arises from economists' tendency to overlook how finance, without appropriate regulations, can degenerate into rent-seeking behavior, wherein certain individuals or institutions exploit the financial system for their own profits at the expense of societal interest.

Khwaja and Mian (2011) provide a framework for empirical research on rent-seeking and corruption in financial markets. The model assumes that firms face diminishing returns to capital, and thus all firms should earn the same risk-adjusted return on capital in an efficient financial system. Rents are generated when distortions (e.g. agency costs) in the perfectly efficient intermediation system are exploited by active agents.

The model examines capital allocation in an economy with multiple firms with the production function af(k), where a represents a firm's productivity and f(k) is a function of capital. In an efficient market without distortions, firms invest capital such that the marginal product of capital equals the risk-adjusted required return on capital r. The marginal product of capital is given by the derivative of the production function with

respect to capital f'(k). Each firm invests optimal capital k^* such that $af'(k^*) = r$. Solving for k^* we obtain that optimal capital investment for a firm with productivity a is $f'(k^*) = \frac{r}{a}$.

To capture the extent of exposure to rent-seeking incentives, the authors create a parameter b < 1, with lower values corresponding to greater rent-seeking. A possible interpretation proposed by the authors is that parameter b represents the expectation that the central bank or the government will intervene and provide funds to a systemic financial institution in times of distress¹⁸. Certain firms (e.g. "too big to fail" institutions) have access to capital that requires only br return on capital. Consequently, rentier firms invest capital ($k_{rentier}^*$) such that $af'(k_{rentier}^*) = br$. Solving for $k_{rentier}^*$, we obtain that the optimal capital investment for rentier firms is $f'(k_{rentier}^*) = \frac{br}{a}$.

Comparing the capital investment of regular firms and rentier firms at the same productivity level a, we observe that rentier firms, benefiting from lower required returns on capital, always invest more capital than regular firms ($k_{rentier}^* > k^*$). Furthermore, this difference in capital investment becomes even more pronounced as productivity increases.

To better illustrate these dynamics, consider Figure 1 which plots optimal capital investment (k^*) based on the level of productivity (*a*). I have assumed the production function to be a Cobb-Douglas $f(k) = k^{\alpha}$, with parameters $\alpha = 0.3$, r = 0.1, and b = 0.7.

¹⁸ Another interpretation of *b* provided by Khwaja and Mian (2011) pertains to financial systems in developing nations. These countries typically feature a banking sector largely owned by the government. Consequently, the cost of funds is notably subsidized through various mechanisms, the effect of which is mathematically represented by the parameter *b*.



While Khwaja and Mian (2011) offer a potential measure of exposure to rent-seeking incentives, disentangling rent-seeking from unobserved variables in empirical analysis remains challenging. A viable strategy to address this issue could firstly entail a qualitative approach aimed at uncovering the mechanisms of rent-seeking, and only subsequently a quantitative analysis evaluating the effects of the identified rent-seeking components. Therefore, following a similar approach, I will firstly delve into an examination of potentially damaging financial innovations, and subsequently analyze their estimated negative effects.

Financing innovation refers to the development of new financial products, services, or instruments. Traditionally, there has been a tendency to assume that financial innovation parallels innovation's positive impact on economic growth. For instance, former Federal Reserve Chairman Ben Bernanke (2007) emphasized "the enormous economic benefits

that flow from a healthy and innovative financial sector", highlighting the role of a sophisticated and deep financial market in promoting economic growth. However, in the aftermath of the financial crisis, financial innovation came under scrutiny for its potential role in exacerbating, and possibly causing the crisis. Particularly, two financial innovations came under scrutiny as potential catalysts for the financial crisis: collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) and credit default swaps (CDSs).

CDOs are structured financial products that bundle together various bonds and assets, promoting financial intermediation by pooling diverse assets into tradable securities. Indeed, without the CDO market absorbing their risk, some of the bonds composing them might never have been issued, thereby effectively expanding access to private credit. However, the issue arises from how CDOs can transform risky assets into seemingly safe investments, particularly through the creation of CDOs-squared, which are CDOs constructed from other CDOs. This process, endorsed by credit rating agencies, effectively masked the underlying risk of these securities, enticing investors to purchase them without demanding commensurate returns.

CDSs, on the other hand, are financial derivatives designed to insure a bond (or a CDO) against default risk. Similarly to CDOs, CDSs facilitated financial intermediation by encouraging investors to consider purchasing a bond with the assurance of a CDS protection. However, this dynamic relied on at least one party not fully comprehending the underlying risk profiles inherent in these transactions. Consequently, the cost of CDS protection was undervalued, prompting investors to engage in financial transactions they might have otherwise avoided if the CDS had been accurately priced.

Both instruments cited, CDOs and CDSs, are forms of financial derivatives. Derivatives are financial contracts designed to create exposure to market price changes in an underlying commodity, asset, or event. Therefore, the derivatives market offers an effective mechanism for sharing of price risks, aiding producers in managing price volatility. Additionally, derivatives play a crucial role in smooth hedging and risk management by enhancing capital inflows into emerging and developing countries. As a result, financial derivatives have achieved the most substantial growth among all financial markets over the past three decades; by 2012 the value of open positions in all derivative instruments was nine times the global GDP.

However, derivatives also negatively impact financial systems by introducing unpredictable crisis dynamics and acting as a driver of contagion, thereby posing significant risks to the overall economy. Financial derivatives, particularly over-the-counter (OTC), have been criticized for their lack of transparency, complex structures, and inadequate risk management. Lazový and Sipko (2014) offer a comprehensive survey on the potential negative effects of derivatives on the real economy. Subsequently, utilizing Granger causality tests, they investigate empirically the impact of exchange-traded derivatives (from 1986 to 2012) and OTC derivatives (from 1998 to 2012) on high-income countries. They find that OTC derivatives reduce economic growth and increase unemployment, while exchange-traded ones mainly reduce employment.

To better comprehend the detrimental impact of these instruments during the financial crisis, it's essential to understand the shift in bank's lending practices. Traditionally, banks would gather funds, meticulously assess borrowers, and then extend loans to approved applicants. If borrowers defaulted, the banks would incur the losses,

incentivizing them to thoroughly evaluate borrowers' creditworthiness, thus allocating credit efficiently.

However, securitization (bundling "passive" assets with cash flows and converting them into tradable securities) changed the banks' lending process from a relationship between banks and loan takers into one between anonymous financial markets and borrowers. A new model termed the "originate to distribute" model emerged.¹⁹ Under this model, brokers and banks began originating mortgages and selling them off for securitization, thus bearing no long-term responsibility if borrowers defaulted. Furthermore, originators were compensated based on the volume of mortgages approved, incentivizing them to approve as many mortgages as possible. This excessive form of compensation thus led to moral hazard.

Subsequently, entities like investment banks pooled together mortgages from various locations to create diversified CDOs and Asset-Backed Securities (ABSs). These securities were then divided into tranches with varying levels of risk, depending on the specific tranche owned. The potential default losses would have been allocated from the most junior tranche (the riskiest) up to the most senior one. To ensure proper origination and sale practices, the most junior tranches were initially retained by the investment bank. Over time, however, all tranches were increasingly sold off, removing incentives for thorough due diligence, and inevitably leading to excessive risk-taking and rent-seeking by both originators and entities selling off the securitized loans. This behavior can also be traceable to the "too big to fail" problem, a form of moral hazard where systematically important financial firms engage in excessive risk-taking. The moral hazard arises

because these firms would profit from successful risky investments while relying on government bailouts to avoid default. In essence, large financial firms can internalize profits and socialize the losses, thus incentivizing excessive risk-taking.

Purnanandam (2010) provides compelling evidence that banks heavily engaged in the "originate to distribute" market were responsible for originating notably lower-quality mortgages in the period prior to the 2007 financial crisis. His findings underscore the neglect of proper borrower screening by these originating banks, suggesting that their behavior played a substantial role in the precipitating crisis.

Epstein (2018) proceeds to estimate the costs of financialization on the US economy in the period between 1990 and 2005. Firstly, he focuses on the excessive profits (or rents) garnered by the financial sector, driven by anti-competitive strategies, the proliferation of overly complex and risky products, government bailouts, inflated pay and profits for bankers, and even fraudulent activities. The author estimates this cost to be between US\$ 3.6 trillion and US\$ 4.2 trillion. Secondly, based on the "too much finance" literature, he examines the costs stemming from misallocation, as in the diversion of financial and human resources away from more productive activities. In this instance, he approximates a cost ranging between US\$ 2.6 trillion and US\$ 3.9 trillion. Finally, the author estimates the costs directly attributable to the financial crisis itself, which he associates with speculative financial practices. This estimation places the final net cost somewhere between US\$ 12.9 and US\$ 22.7 trillion.

Furthermore, Epstein (2018) argues that while the Great Financial Crisis weakened mainstream economists' belief that unregulated finance is "efficient" and "benign", it only managed to dent the power of finance as an economic force, unlike the significant restraint observed after the Great Depression. Indeed, despite a brief decline immediately following the crisis, the relative size of financial sector assets compared to GDP surged from 400% in 2008 to 500% by 2015. As the financial sector continues to expand, so do the opportunities to engage in rent-seeking activities, excessively attracting human capital from the real economy and effectively reducing its possibility of growth.

In parallel to analyzing dysfunctional behaviors that are nonetheless legal, Toms and Lin (2023) focus on white-collar crime. The authors argue that financial fraud and scandals arise from opportunities created by evolving financial systems. Specifically, they highlight that financial development, the significance of the financial sector, international capital mobility and secrecy, and banking stability all play a role in the prevalence of fraud and scandal. To measure the level of financial fraud and its changes over time, the authors create an annual fraud index. To assess financial development, they utilize indicators such as economic liberalization, stock market capitalization relative to GDP, credit as a percentage of GDP, and the financial sector's employment share. Their dataset includes yearly observations from 1900 to 2010 in the UK. They find that all measures of financial development show significant correlations with measures of fraud and scandals, indeed suggesting that a large, heavily leveraged, and deregulated financial sector tends to foster financial fraud and scandals.

3. 2. | Regulating against financial rent-seeking

Historically, the banking system has been one of the most regulated sectors in the economy due to market failures that result in external costs when a specific bank fails, affecting the entirety of the financial system and the real economy. Regulation aims to minimize the risk of bank failures and their negative impacts.

Generally, after financial crises, concerns about the fragility and risks of finance spur an intense debate on regulatory reforms, shifting the focus from self-regulation and reliance on market forces to discussions about reducing implicit subsidies and limiting the activities banks can undertake; this can possibly lead to overregulation, which in turn may impose unnecessary costs on financial service providers, reduce their efficiency, and ultimately hinder economic growth. The challenge has been to find the right balance between reducing fragility and maximizing the efficiency of financial intermediation. This has led to regulatory cycles where regimes are tightened after major crises and relaxed over time.

Beck, Carletti, and Goldstein (2016) argue that the Great Financial Crisis has not only raised doubts about finding the right regulatory balance but also questioned the nature of bank regulation itself. The authors suggest that the crisis has shown that focusing solely on the stability of individual financial institutions is insufficient to understand the fragility of the overall financial system. The conventional reforms after a crisis often aim at preventing the last crisis by closing loopholes and addressing sources of fragility. However, new regulations lead to evasion efforts by financial market participants. This feedback loop and catch-up process of regulators raise the fundamental question of how regulation can adapt to the dynamic nature of the financial system.

The fundamental tradeoff identified by Beck, Carletti, and Goldstein is between economic growth and financial fragility. On one side, banks and financial markets are essential for economic growth because of their role in reducing liquidity risk, producing information, and easing exchange. On the other side, these activities make financial institutions fragile by fostering a high degree of interconnectedness and creating significant externalities

when an individual institution fails. Therefore, the benefits of financial development on growth cannot be achieved without accepting some level of fragility and risk-taking within the financial system. Consequently, the regulatory focus should be on determining the optimal level of risk-taking and, more practically, on minimizing the repercussions of bank failures on the overall financial system and the real economy. "Critically, financial stability is not an objective in itself, but rather a condition for the sustainability of an efficient and market-supporting financial system" (Beck, Carletti, & Goldstein, 2016, p. 3).

3. 2. 1. | Regulatory Response after the Great Financial Crisis

In response to the perceived causes of the 2008 crisis, the U.S. enacted the Dodd-Frank Act (DFA) and the EU introduced the Basel III regulatory standards.

The DFA implemented several strategies, often delegating more detailed regulatory authority to administrative agencies. Firstly, to address excessive executive compensation that led to high-risk behaviors, the DFA empowered financial regulators to limit executive pay. Furthermore, broker votes on compensation were eliminated, shifting more power to shareholders. Secondly, regarding the "too big to fail" problem, the DFA aimed to restrict federal lending to large financial institutions, except in cases of liquidation. The underlying rationale was to signal financial firms that there would be no more bailouts. Notably, post-2008, the banking industry has become more consolidated as the surviving banks acquired failing ones, meaning the collapse of a "too big to fail" bank could be even more disastrous. This consolidation suggests that financial regulators might still circumvent the DFA's restrictions to bail out failing banks. Lastly, to address the risk

associated with OTC derivatives, Congress mandated the trading of these derivatives on exchanges and required the use of clearinghouses.

In the EU, Basel III introduced several key reforms aimed at enhancing the stability of the financial system. These include stricter capital requirements, a minimum leverage ratio, and two minimum liquidity ratios. Additionally, the EU implemented new rules for bank resolution and established the Banking Union.

Under Basel III, banks are required to increase the Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital to at least 4.5% of risk-weighted assets. To address the "too big to fail" concern and systemic risk, Basel III also mandates various macro-prudential capital buffers. For instance, global systematically important banks (S-SIBs) and institutions (G-SIIs) must maintain higher capital buffers. In essence, these measures aim to ensure both a higher quantity and quality of capital.

To manage liquidity risk, the Basel Committee developed the Liquidity Coverage Requirement (LCR), and the Net Stable Funding Requirement (NSFR). The LCR requires banks to hold a sufficient stock of unencumbered High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA) to survive for 30 days under a standardized stress scenario, ensuring short-term liquidity. The NSFR aims to reduce excessive reliance on unstable short-term funding for long-term or illiquid assets. It is calculated as the ratio of available stable funding (such as equity, long-term debt, and customer deposits) to the required stable funding over a one-year horizon, with assets weighted by their maturity.

Another significant financial reform in Europe is the establishment of the banking union. This union includes a Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM), a Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM), a Single Rulebook, and a harmonized deposit insurance scheme. Beck, Carletti, and Goldstein (2016) identify numerous rationales for creating a banking union: (a) to break the adverse feedback loop between sovereigns and the financial system; (b) to serve as a precondition for bank recapitalization through the European Stability Mechanism (ESM); (c) to create more distance between banks and regulators, thereby preventing regulatory capture; and (d) to enhance the effectiveness of supervision by implementing a "single rulebook".

3. 2. 2. | Shortcomings and Possible Solutions

While the regulatory reforms enacted so far have addressed significant issues, the crisis and its aftermath have presented new challenges in crafting an appropriate regulatory framework. A fundamental issue remains the "too big to fail" financial institutions. Beyond their systemic risk due to size and interconnectedness, Cetorelli and Goldberg (2014) argue that larger financial institutions pose a significant challenge for regulators also due to the complexity of effectively supervising their numerous subsidiaries. This complexity necessitates more sophisticated regulations, which can have unintended consequences. Haldrane and Maduros (2012) point out how complex regulation can incentivize financial institutions to become even more complex. Mariathasan and Merrouche (2014), examining a panel of 115 banks transitioning from Basel I to the more sophisticated Basel II requirements, found that a higher degree of complexity of regulations can lead to higher degrees of manipulation by financial institutions and investors.

Given these challenges, one might ponder if it would be socially profitable to break "too big to fail" banks into smaller financial institutions. Another more moderate approach would be the introduction of a Pigouvian Tax levied on these "too big to fail" financial agents as a penalty for their systemic risk. The rationale would be to disincentivize these institutions from aspiring to become even bigger, while incentivizing them to reduce their size, thereby becoming less systemic. Indeed, this latter option has been further developed by Markose, Giansante, and Shaghaghi (2012).

Another key driver of systemic risk to be addressed is financial innovation. Indeed, innovations like securitizations and derivatives can reduce the idiosyncratic risk of individual financial institutions. However, they can increase systematic risk by enhancing the risk-taking capacity of banks. In fact, Brunnermeier (2009) identifies in CDOs and CDSs the enablers of the low lending standards that, in combination with cheap credit, resulted in the creation of the "credit bubble" leading to the 2007 financial crisis. To mitigate such risks, further raising capital requirements could be socially beneficial. Higher capital requirements would reduce the incentive to increase leverage through the use of controversial financial innovations. A dynamic and forward-looking approach to regulation in this case is essential. It is important to anticipate the next wave of innovations as they occur, requiring regulators to continuously adjust the regulatory perimeter and focus of prudential regulation as new sources of systematic risk arise.

Finally, another problem especially relevant in the U.S. would be regulating executive compensation in the financial sector. Coffee Jr. (2012) argues that the DFA fell short in its objective to curb executive compensation by allowing the firms alone to decide who caused "substantial losses" and requiring them too little data. Indeed, the DFA did authorize financial regulators to limit excessive compensation. However, in the few cases in which regulators required specific disclosure of executive's compensations, they

refrained from requiring any deferral of bonuses for executives causing losses, possibly due to concerns about employee defections to less regulated trading firms. A clearer and more detailed disclosure of bonus compensation would be a fundamental step in developing more effective rules to balance executive salaries with their performance.

Conclusion

This thesis has explored the intricate relationship between financial development and economic growth. Levine (2004) provides a comprehensive theoretical framework highlighting the positive contributions of a well-developed financial system, such as risk diversification, improved capital allocation, and enhanced corporate governance. In theory, these mechanisms facilitate innovation and productivity, thereby fostering economic growth.

However, I believe there to be a fundamental error in the interpretation of finance presented by the author. Rather than viewing finance as an instrument that can be utilized for both beneficial and detrimental purposes, it was viewed as an autonomous, self-regulating entity. The logical consequence of such a perspective is the belief that, if left to itself (guided by the "invisible hand") the financial system would inherently be beneficial, enhancing not only capital efficiency but also social welfare. Historically, the supremacy of the United States, the champion of this perspective, combined with the ideological fall of its counterpart in 1989, is how such an ideology established its primacy globally.

However, the Global Financial Crisis unambiguously attempted at the integrity of the belief in the social efficiency of an autonomous, deregulated financial system. Indeed, a review of the existing empirical literature reveals a division between pre- and post-financial crisis studies. On one hand, early research from the 1990s largely supports the notion that financial development is correlated with economic growth, leading academics to reach a near-consensus on this relationship and confirming the social efficiency of the "invisible hand".

On the other hand, the 2007 financial crisis prompted concerns that the financial sector had outgrown the real economy. This led to the emergence of the "too much finance" literature, which identifies various thresholds beyond which financial deepening no longer contributes to growth and may even impede it. The findings of Demetriades, Rousseau, and Rewilak (2017; 2023) mark a pivotal point in the financial development-economic growth literature, revealing how financial fragility has negative impacts on GDP growth even in the absence of a financial crisis. The fundamental tradeoff, therefore, lies between promoting economic growth and mitigating financial fragility.

Achieving this balance requires regulatory efforts, as unchecked financial development and innovation can easily lead to rent-seeking activities. Although significant progress has been made in financial regulation in recent years, a more forward-looking approach is essential. It is crucial to continuously adjust the regulatory framework and focus of prudential regulation to address new sources of systematic risk.

In 2023 the U.S. regulatory agencies proposed implementing components of the Basel III agreement, thereby extending broader capital requirements to banks with over \$100 billion in total assets. Another significant change would be the removal of the organizations' internal models for credit and operational risk evaluation, which aims to standardize risk assessment across the industry. The Fed estimated that these changes would result in a 16 percent increase in common equity tier 1 capital requirements for the affected banks.²⁰ I believe this proposal is a step in the right direction for three main reasons. First, it could curb the excessive expansion of already systemic financial firms while simultaneously discouraging non-systemic firms from becoming systemic,

²⁰ Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System; Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (2023).

requiring firms a more cautious approach to their operations and growth. Second, as large banking organizations subject to the proposal will have to compete with non-affected firms, they will not be able to pass the entire cost of the stricter regulation onto borrowers. This could result in enhanced competitiveness and a reduction in financial fragility. Finally, adopting more standardized regulation across both the EU and the U.S. will prevent the American banking system from gaining a competitive advantage at the expense of financial stability. Given the global interconnectedness of the financial system, consistent regulations are crucial for maintaining global financial stability. Indeed, I believe the strong resistance to these regulations by the banking industry to be an indicator of their potential effectiveness in enhancing stability and reducing rentseeking behavior.

Lastly, a fundamental aspect of classical economic development studies that is understudied in the finance-growth literature is income inequality. In recent years, income inequality in developed countries has risen significantly, prompting a critical examination of its underlying causes. The role of financial development in possibly exacerbating or mitigating this effect should be of primal importance when evaluating the role and the magnitude that the financial system should have in our economies. Furthermore, how much do financial fragility and crises affect income inequality? Only by clearly understanding the relationship between finance and inequality can technical regulators and democratic institutions effectively guide the financial system through the regulatory framework. This understanding is crucial to ensure that financial systems promote not only economic growth but also an equitable and inclusive development.

Bibliography

- Acemoglu, D., & Zilibotti, F. (1997, Aug.). Was Prometheus Unbound by Chance? Risk, Diversification, and Growth. *Journal of Political Economy*, 105(4), 709-751. doi:https://doi.org/10.1086/262091
- Acharya, V. V., Imbs, J., & Sturgess, J. (2010). Finance and Efficiency: Do Bank Branching Regulations Matter? *Review of Finance*, 15(1), 135-172. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/rof/rfq009
- Aghion, P., & Howitt, P. (1992, Mar.). A Model of Growth Through Creative Destruction. *Econometrica*, 60(2), 323-351. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2951599
- Aghion, P., Angeletos, G.-M., Banerjee, A., & Manova, K. (2010, Apr.). Volatility and growth: Credit constraints and the composition of investment. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 57(3), 246-265. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoneco.2010.02.005
- Aghion, P., Howitt, P., & Mayer-Foulkes, D. (2004). The Effect of Financial Development on Convergence: Theory and Evidence. Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w10358
- Allen, F., & Carletti, E. (2010, Feb.). An Overview of the Crisis: Causes, Consequences, and Solutions. *International Review of Finance*, 10(1), 1-26. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2443.2009.01103.x
- Andrianova, S., & Demetriades, P. O. (2018, Mar.). Financial Development and Financial Fragility: Two Sides of the Same Coin? *Comparative Economic Studies*, 60(1), 54-68. doi:10.1057/s41294-017-0047-z
- Ang, J. B., & Madsen, J. B. (2012, Nov.). Risk capital, private credit, and innovative production. *The Canadian Journal of Economics / Revue canadienne d'Economique*, 45(4), 1608-1639. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/23270185
- Arcand, J. L., Berkes, E., & Panizza, U. (2012, Jun.). Too much finance? *IMF Working Paper*, 12/161.
- Arcand, J., Berkes, E., & Panizza, U. (2015, May). Too much finance? *Journal of Economic Growth*, 20, 105-148.
- Arellano, M., & Bond, S. (1991, Apr.). Some Tests of Specification for Panel Data: Monte Carlo Evidence and an Application to Employment Equations. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 58(2), 277-297. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2297968
- Bagehot, W. (1873). Lombard Street: A description of the Money Market (3rd ed.). London: Henry S. King.

- Beck, R., Georgiadis, G., & Straub, R. (2014, Sept.). The finance and growth nexus revisited. *Economics Letters*, 124(3), 382-385. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2014.06.024
- Beck, T., & Levine, R. (2004, Mar.). Stock markets, banks, and growth: Panel evidence. *Journal of Banking & Finance, 28*(3), 423-442. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4266(02)00408-9
- Beck, T., Buyukkarabacak, B., Rioja, F. K., & Valev, N. T. (2012). Who Gets the Credit? And Does It Matter? Household vs. Firm Lending Across Countries. *The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics*, 12(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1515/1935-1690.2262
- Beck, T., Carletti, E., & Goldstein, I. (2016, Mar. 02). Financial Regulation in Europe: Foundations and Challenges. *Center for Economic Policy Research Discussion Paper Series*(DP11147).
- Beck, T., Demirguc-Kunt, A., Laeven, L., & Levine, R. (2004, Nov). *Finance, Firm Size, and Growth.* Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w10983
- Beck, T., Levine, R., & Loayza, N. (2000). Finance and the sources of growth. *Journal* of Financial Economics, 58(1-2), 261-300. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-405X(00)00072-6
- Bencivenga, V. R., & Smith, B. D. (1991, Apr.). Financial Intermediation and Endogenous Growth. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 58(2), 195-209. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2297964
- Bencivenga, V. R., & Smith, B. D. (1993, Jun.-Mar.). Some consequences of credit rationing in an endogenous growth model. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 17(1-2), 97-122. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-1889(06)80006-0
- Bernanke, B. S. (2007, May). Regulation and Financial Innovation. *Federal Reserve Bank* of Atlanta's Financial Markets Conference. Sea Island, GA. Retrieved from https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/speech/bernanke20070515a.htm
- Bertrand, M., Schoar, A., & Thesmar, D. (2007, Mar.). Banking Deregulation and Industry Structure: Evidence from the French Banking Reforms of 1985. *The Journal of Finance*, 62(2), 597-628. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2007.01218.x
- Bhide, A. (1993, Aug.). The hidden costs of stock market liquidity. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 34(1), 31-51. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(93)90039-E
- Blundell, R., & Bond, S. (1998, Nov.). Initial conditions and moment restrictions in dynamic panel data models. *Journal of Econometrics*, 87(1), 115-143. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4076(98)00009-8
- Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System; Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. (2023, Jul. 27). Agencies request comment on proposed rules to strengthen capital requirements for large

banks. Federal Reserve. Retrieved from https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/bcreg20230727a.htm

- Brown, J. R., Martinsson, G., & Petersen, B. C. (2013, Mar.). Law, Stock Markets, and Innovation. *The Journal of Finance, 68*(4), 1517-1549. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/jofi.12040
- Brunnermeier, M. K. (2009). Deciphering the Liquidity and Credit Crunch 2007-2008. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 23(1), 77-100. Retrieved from https://www.princeton.edu/~markus/research/papers/liquidity credit crunch.pdf
- Carosso, V. (1970). Investment Banking in America: A History. Boston: Harvard University Press.
- Cecchetti, S. G., & Kharroubi, E. (2012). *Reassessing the impact of finance on growth*. Bank for International Settlements, Monetary and Economic Department.
- Cetorelli, N., & Goldberg, L. S. (2014, Apr.). Measures of Complexity of Global Banks. *Economic Policy Review*, 20(2). Retrieved from https://ssrn.com/abstract=2421995
- Chava, S., Oettl, A., Subramanian, A., & Subramanian, K. V. (2013, Sep.). Banking deregulation and innovation. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 109(3), 759-774. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2013.03.015
- Christopoulos, D., & Tsionas, E. M. (2004, Feb.). Financial development and economic growth: Evidence from panel unit root and cointegration tests. *Journal of Development Economics*, 73(1), 55-74. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2003.03.002
- Coffee Jr., J. C. (2012). The political economy of Dodd-Frank: Why financial reform tends to be frustrated and systemic risk perpetuated. In E. Ferran, N. Moloney, J. G. Hill, & J. C. Coffee Jr., *The regulatory aftermath of the global financial crisis* (pp. 301-367). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- De Gregorio, J., & Guidotti, P. E. (1995, Mar.). Financial development and economic growth. *World Development, 23*(3), 433-448. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-750X(94)00132-I
- de la Fuente, A., & Marín, J. (1996, Oct.). Innovation, bank monitoring, and endogenous financial development. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 38(2), 269-301. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3932(96)01277-9
- Deidda, L., & Fattouh, B. (2002, Feb.). Non-linearity between finance and growth. *Economics Letters*, 74(3), 339-345. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-1765(01)00571-7
- Demetriades, P. O., & Hussein, K. A. (1996, Dec.). Does financial development cause economic growth? Time-series evidence from 16 countries. *Journal of Development Economics*, 51(2), 387-411. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3878(96)00421-X

- Demetriades, P. O., & Law, S. H. (2006, Aug.). Finance, institutions and economic development. *International Journal of Finance & Economics*, 11(3), 245-260. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ijfe.296
- Demetriades, P. O., Rewilak, J. M., & Rousseau, P. L. (2023, Feb.). Finance, Growth and Fragility. *Journal of Financial Services Research*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10693-023-00402-w
- Demetriades, P. O., Rousseau, P. L., & Rewilak, J. M. (2017). *Finance, Growth and Fragility*. Economics Division. Leicester: University of Leicester. Retrieved from https://www.le.ac.uk/economics/research/RePEc/lec/leecon/dp17-13.pdf
- Demirguc-Kunt, A., & Levine, R. (1996, May). Stock Markets, Corporate Finance, and Economic Growth: An Overview. World Bank Economic Review, 291-321. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/wber/10.2.223
- Diamond, D. W. (1984, Jul.). Financial Intermediation and Delegated Monitoring. *The Review of Economic Studies*, *51*(3), 393-414. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2297430
- Diamond, D. W., & Dybvig, P. H. (1983, Jun.). Bank Runs, Deposit Insurance, and Liquidity. *Journal of Political Economy*, 91(3), 401-419. doi:10.1086/261155
- Easterly, W., Islam, R., & Stiglitz, J. E. (2000). Shaken and Stirred, Explaining Growth Volatility. "Annual Bank Conference on Development Economics. Washington D.C.: The World Bank. Retrieved from https://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/447071468761424497/820140748_ 200404131103725/additional/28159.pdf
- Epstein, G. (2018). On the Social Efficiency of Finance. *Development and Change, 49*(2), 330-352. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/dech.12386
- Fama, E. F., & Jensen, M. C. (1983a, Jun.). Agency Problems and Residual Claims. *The Journal of Law & Economics*, 26(2), 327–349. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/725105
- Fama, E. F., & Jensen, M. C. (1983b, Jun.). Separation of Ownership and Control. *The Journal of Law & Economics*, 26(2), 301–325. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/725104
- Favara, G. (2003). An Empirical Reassessment of the Relationship Between Finance and Growth. European I Department. International Monetary Fund. Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2003/wp03123.pdf
- Fisman, R., & Love, I. (2007, May). Financial Dependence and Growth Revisited. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 5(2/3), 470-479. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/40005050
- Gerschenkron, A. (1962). *Economic Backwardness in Historical Perspective : A Book of Essays*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Goldin, C., & Katz, L. F. (2007). The Race between Education and Technology: The Evolution Of U.S. Educational Wage Differentials, 1890 to 2005. Cambridge:

National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w12984

- Goldsmith, R. W. (1969). *Financial Structure and Development*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Greenwood, J., & Smith, B. D. (1997, Jan.). Financial markets in development, and the development of financial markets. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 21(1), 145-181. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1889(95)00928-0
- Grossman, S. J., & Hart, O. D. (1980). Takeover Bids, The Free-Rider Problem, and the Theory of the Corporation. *The Bell Journal of Economics*, 11(1), 42-64. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/3003400
- Grossman, S. J., & Hart, O. D. (1986, Aug.). The Costs and Benefits of Ownership: A Theory of Vertical and Lateral Integration. *Journal of Political Economy*, 94(4), 691-719. doi:10.1086/261404
- Grossman, S. J., & Stiglitz, J. E. (1980, Jun.). Markets, On the Impossibility of Informationally Efficient. *The American Economic Review*, 70(3), 393-408. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/1805228
- Guiso, L., Jappelli, T., Padula, M., & Pagano, M. (2004, Oct). Financial Market Integration and Economic Growth in the EU. *Economic Policy*, 19(40), 523-577. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0327.2004.00131.x
- Guiso, L., Sapienza, P., & Zingales, L. (2004, Aug.). Does Local Financial Development Matter? *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 119(3), 929-969. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/25098706
- Gupta, N., & Yuan, K. (2009, Dec.). On the Growth Effect of Stock Market Liberalizations. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 22(11), 4715-4752. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhp001
- Gurley, J. G., & S., S. E. (1955, Sept.). Financial Aspects of Economic Development. *The American Economic Review*, 45(4), 515-538. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/1811632
- Haldane, A. G., & Madouros, V. (2012). The dog and the frisbee. Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City's 366th economic policy symposium "The changing policy landscape". Jackson Hole. Retrieved from https://www.bis.org/review/r120905a.pdf
- Holmström, B., & Tirole, J. (1993, Aug.). Monitoring, Market Liquidity and Performance . Journal of Political Economy, 101(4), 678-709. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2138744
- Huang, R. R. (2008, Mar.). Evaluating the real effect of bank branching deregulation: Comparing contiguous counties across US state borders. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 87(3), 678-705. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2007.01.004

- Jayaratne, J., & Strahan, P. E. (1996, Aug.). The Finance-Growth Nexus: Evidence from Bank Branch Deregulation. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 111(3), 639-670. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2946668
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976, Oct.). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3(4), 305-360. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(76)90026-X
- Kaminsky, G. L., & Reinhart, C. M. (1999, Jun.). The Twin Crises: The Causes of Banking and Balance-of-Payments Problems. AMERICAN ECONOMIC REVIEW, 89(3), 473-500. doi:10.1257/aer.89.3.473
- Khwaja, A. I., & Mian, A. R. (2011, Sept.). Rent Seeking and Corruption in Financial Markets. *Annual Review of Economics*, 3(1). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-economics-061109-080310
- King, R. G., & Levine, R. (1993a, Aug.). Finance and Growth: Schumpeter Might be Right. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 108(3), 717-737. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2118406
- King, R. G., & Levine, R. (1993b, Dec.). Finance, entrepreneurship and growthTheory and evidence. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 32(3), 513-542. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3932(93)90028-E
- Kneer, E. C. (2013, Dec.). Essays on the size of the financial sector, financial liberalization and growth. Tilburg: Center for Economic Research. Retrieved from https://research.tilburguniversity.edu/files/1560019/entire_manuscript_thesis.pdf
- Kortum, S., & Lerner, J. (2000). Assessing the Contribution of Venture Capital to Innovation. *The RAND Journal of Economics*, 31(4), 674-692. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2696354
- Kyle, A. S. (1984). Market structure, information, futures markets, and price formation.
 In G. G. Storey, & S. Andrew, *International agricultural trade : advanced readings in price formation, market structure, and price instability* (pp. 45-64).
 Boulder: Westview Press.
- La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1996). *Law and Finance*. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/Delivery.cfm/nber_w5661.pdf?abstractid=7788&mi rid=1
- La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1997, Jul.). Legal Determinants of External Finance. *The Journal of Finance*, *52*(3), 1131-1150. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2329518
- La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1998, Dec.). Law and Finance. *Journal of Political Economy*, *106*(6), 1113-1155. doi:https://doi.org/10.1086/250042

- Laeven, L., Levine, R., & Michalopoulos, S. (2015, Jan.). Financial innovation and endogenous growth. *Journal of Financial Intermediation*, 24(1), 1-24. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfi.2014.04.001
- Law, S. H., Chang, L. W., & Singh, N. (2017, Mar.). Revisiting the finance-innovation nexus: Evidence from a non-linear approach. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, 3(3), 143-153. doi:10.1016/j.jik.2017.02.001
- Lazový, J., & Sipko, J. (2014, Oct.). Impact of Financial Derivatives on the Real Economy. *International Journal of Management Excellence*. doi:https://doi.org/10.17722/IJME.V4I1.178
- Levine, R. (1991, Sept.). Stock Markets, Growth, and Tax Policy. *The Journal of Finance*, *46*(4), 1445-1465. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1991.tb04625.x
- Levine, R. (1997, Jun.). Financial Development and Economic Growth: Views and Agenda. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 35(5), 688-726. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2729790
- Levine, R. (2001, Nov.). International Financial Liberalization and Economic Growth. *Review of International Economics*, 9(4), 688-702. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9396.00307
- Levine, R. (2004, Sept.). Finance and Growth: Theory and Evidence. *NBER Working Paper Series*(10766). doi:10.3386/w10766
- Levine, R. (2021, Jun. 11). Finance, Growth, and Inequality. *IMF Working Papers, No.* 2021(164). Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/-/media/Files/Publications/WP/2021/English/wpiea2021164-print-pdf.ashx
- Levine, R., & Zervos, S. (1996). *Stock Markets, Banks, and Economic Growth.* Policy Research Working Paper, The World Bank, Policy Research Department, Washington. Retrieved from https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/713021468766833662/pdf/multipage.pdf
- Levine, R., & Zervos, S. (1998, Jun.). Stock Markets, Banks, and Economic Growth. *The American Economic Review*, 88(3), 537-558. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/116848
- Levine, R., Loayza, N., & Back, T. (2000, Aug.). Financial intermediation and growth: Causality and causes. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 46(1), 31-77. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3932(00)00017-9
- Loayza, N., & Ranciere, R. (2006, Jun.). Financial development, financial fragility, and growth. *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, 38*(4), 1051–1076. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/3838993
- Mariathasan, M., & Merrouche, O. (2014, Jul.). The manipulation of basel risk-weights. *Journal of Financial Intermediation*, 23(3), 300-321. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfi.2014.04.004

- Markose, S., Giansante, S., & Shaghaghi, A. R. (2012, Aug.). 'Too interconnected to fail' financial network of US CDS market: Topological fragility and systemic risk. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 83(3), 627-647. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2012.05.016
- Maug, E. (2002, Dec.). Large Shareholders as Monitors: Is There a Trade-Off between Liquidity and Control? *The Journal of Finance*, 53(1), 65-98. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.35053
- Merton, R. C. (1987, Jul.). A Simple Model of Capital Market Equilibrium with Incomplete Information. *The Journal of Finance*, 42(3), 483-510. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1987.tb04565.x
- Merton, R. C., & Bodie, Z. (1995). A Conceptual Framework for Analyzing the Financial Environment. In D. B. Crane, R. C. Merton, K. A. Froot, Z. Bodie, S. P. Mason, E. R. Sirri, ... P. Tufano, *The Global Financial System: A Functional Perspective*, (pp. 3-31). Boston, Massachusetts: Harvard Business School Press.
- Morck, R., Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1988). Management Ownership and Market Valuation: An Empirical Analysis. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 20(1-2), 293-315. Retrieved from https://scholar.harvard.edu/sites/scholar.harvard.edu/files/shleifer/files/mgt-ownmkt-val.pdf
- MuellBauer, J. (2010, Mar. 26). Household decisions, credit markets and the macroeconomy: implications for the design of central bank models. *BIS Working Papers*(206).
- Myers, S. C., & Majluf, N. S. (1984, Jun.). Corporate financing and investment decisions when firms have information that investors do not have. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 13(2), 187-221. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(84)90023-0
- Panizza, U. (2013). Financial development and economic growth: Known knowns, known unknowns, and unknown unknowns. Geneva: Graduate Institute of International and Development Studies. Retrieved from https://hdl.handle.net/10419/122133
- Patrick, H. T. (1966, Jan.). Financial Development and Economic Growth in Underdeveloped Countries. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 14(2), 174–189. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1152568
- Philippon, T., & Reshef, A. (2009, Jan.). Wages and Human Capital in the U.S. Financial Industry:1909-2006. *NBER Working Paper Series*(14644). doi:10.3386/w14644
- Philippon, T., & Reshef, A. (2012, Nov.). Wages and Human Capital in the U.S. Finance Industry: 1909–2006. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 127(4), 1551-1609. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjs030
- Popov, A. (2017). *Evidence on finance and economic growth*. Frankfurt: European Central Bank (ECB). doi:https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2866/996857

- Popov, A., & Roosenboom, P. (2013, Dec.). Venture capital and new business creation. *Journal of Banking & Finance, 37*(12), 4695-4710. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2013.08.010
- Pradhan, R. P., Arvin, M., Bennett, S., & Nair, M. S. (2016, Jun.). Bond Market Development, Economic Growth and Other Macroeconomic Determinants: Panel VAR Evidence. *Asia-Pacific Financial Markets*, 23(2), 175-201. doi:10.1007/s10690-016-9214-x
- Purnanandam, A. (2010, Apr.). Originate-to-Distribute Model and the Sub-Prime Mortgage Crisis. *Review of Financial Studies*, 24(6), 1881-1915. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1167786
- Rajan, R. (2005, Nov.). Has Financial Development Made the World Riskier? *NBER Working Paper Series*(11728). Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w11728
- Rajan, R. G., & Zingales, L. (1998, Jun.). Financial Dependence and Growth. The American Economic Review, 88(3), 559-586. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/116849
- Rajan, R. G., & Zingales, L. (2003, Jul.). The great reversals: the politics of financial development in the twentieth century. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 69(1), 5-50. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-405X(03)00125-9
- Rioja, F., & Valev, N. (2004, Jan.). Finance and the Sources of Growth at Various Stages of Economic Development. *Economic Inquiry*, 42(1), 127-140. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/ei/cbh049
- Robinson, J. (1952). *The Generalisation of the General Theory, in the Rate of Interest, and Other Essays* (2nd ed.). London: Macmillan.
- Romer, P. M. (1986, Oct.). Increasing Returns and Long-Run Growth. Journal of Political Economy, 94(5), 1002-37. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1833190
- Romer, P. M. (1990, Oct.). Endogenous Technological Change. Journal of Political Economy, 98(5), S71–S102. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2937632
- Roosenboom, P., Schlingemann, F. P., & Vasconcelos, M. (2014, Aug.). Does Stock Liquidity Affect Incentives to Monitor? Evidence from Corporate Takeovers. *The Review of Financial Studies, 27*(8), 2392–2433. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hht076
- Rousseau, P. L., & Wachtel, P. (2000). Equity markets and growth: Cross-country evidence on timing and outcomes, 1980–1995. *Journal of Banking & Finance, 24*(12), 1933-1957. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4266(99)00123-5

- Rousseau, P. L., & Wachtel, P. (2002, Nov.). Inflation thresholds and the finance–growth nexus. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 21(6), 777-793. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5606(02)00022-0
- Rousseau, P. L., & Wachtel, P. (2011, Jan.). What Is Happening To The Impact Of Financial Deepening On Economic Growth? *Economic Inquiry*, 49(1), 276-288. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-7295.2009.00197.x
- Schumpeter, J. A. (1911). *The Theory of Economic Development*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1986, Jun.). Large Shareholders and Corporate Control. Journal of Political Economy, 94(3), 461-488. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/1833044
- Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1997, Jun.). A Survey of Corporate Governance. *The Journal of Finance*, 52(2), 737-783. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/2329497
- Sirri, E. R., & Tufano, P. (1995). The Economics of Pooling. In D. B. Crane, R. C. Merton, K. A. Froot, Z. Bodie, S. P. Mason, E. R. Sirri, ... P. Tufano, *The Global Financial System: A functional Perspective* (pp. 81-127). Boston, Massachusetts: Harvard Business School Press. Retrieved from https://faculty.babson.edu/sirri/research/pooling%20GFS%20chpater%201995.p df
- Smith, A. (1776). An inquiry into the nature and causes of the wealth of nations. London: W. Stahan & T. Cadell.
- Stiglitz, J. E., & Weiss, A. (1981, Jun.). Credit Rationing in Markets with Imperfect Information. *The American Economic Review*, 71(3), 393-410. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1802787
- Stiglitz, J. E., & Weiss, A. (1983, Dec.). Incentive Effects of Terminations: Applications to the Credit and Labor Markets. *The American Economic Review*, 73(5), 912-927. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/1814662
- Svaleryd, H., & Vlachos, J. (2005, Jan.). Financial markets, the pattern of industrial specialization and comparative advantage: Evidence from OECD countries. *European Economic Review*, 49(1), 113-144. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2921(03)00030-8
- Toms, S., & Lin, C. (2023, Nov.). Economic freedom, financial development and the determinants of fraud and scandal: The United Kingdom, 1900-2010. *Business History*. doi:https://www.tandfonline.com/action/showCitFormats?doi=10.1080/0007679 1.2023.2264215
- Zhu, A., Ash, M., & Pollin, R. (2002). Stock Market Liquidity and Economic Growth: A Critical Appraisal of the Levine/Zervos Model. PERI Working Paper, Political Economy Research Institute, Department of Economics, Amherst. Retrieved from

https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/Delivery.cfm/SSRN_ID353366_code021212500.pd f?abstractid=353366&mirid=1

- Zhu, X., Asimakopoulos, S., & Kim, J. (2020, Feb.). Financial Development and Innovation-led Growth: Is Too Much Finance Better? *Journal of International Money* and *Finance*, 100, 1-24. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jimonfin.2019.102083
- Zingales, L. (2015, Jul.). Does Finance Benefit Society? *The Journal of Finance*, 70(4), 1327-1363. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/jofi.12295